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DESCRIBE THE PRESENT AND ORIGINAL (IF KNOWN) PHYSICAL APPEARANCE

The Dr. Ephraim McDowell House stands on a small lot on the western side of South Second 
Street (numbers 125-129) just south of its intersection with Main Street in Danville, 
Kentucky. The house and attached apothecary shop (north) and office (south) take up 
almost the entire frontage of the lot. To the rear, bounded by brick walls, are two 
small areas of lawn and a formal garden created in the 1930*3.

Dr. McDowell, with Dr. Adam Rankin, rented the northern shop, then a free-standing 
building, in 1795 and purchased it two years later. The one-story, gable-roofed brick 
building contains two rooms; that in the front (east) served as an apothecary shop, 
that in the rear the doctors' office. The 3-bay front elevation is broken by a center 
door and flanking 9/6 sash windows with louvered blinds. The full cellar with cob fire­ 
place is reached by a trap-door in the front room. The attic space was never used. 
McDowell sold the shop when he constructed his second office (see below).

The present ell of the McDowell House, brick with slanting roof, was built c. 1786. 
The main block—frame, 2-story, with gabled roof—was constructed c. 1800. Both 
sections have center halls with two rooms on each floor. The front entrance, at the 
center halls with two rooms on each floor. The front entrance, at the center of the 
5-bay main block, consists of paneled double doors with an elliptical fan and sidelights. 
Windows in the main block are 12/12 sash with louvered blinds; those in the ell are 
primarily 6/6 with blinds. When McDowell purchased the house in 1802, he enlarged 
a servant's room in the ell (adjacent to his own bedroom in the main block) to serve 
as an operating and recovery room, constructed a one-story brick addition, containing 
a waiting room and office, at the southwest corner of the house, and probably added 
the one-story rear porch, connecting the new office and the ell stairway which gave 
access to the operating room.

During the second half of the 19th and early 20th centuries, the McDowell House had a 
number of owners and eventually became a rooming house. During the same period, the 
apothecary shop was successively a pool room, beer hall, barber shop, and restaurant. 
When the Kentucky Medical Association acquired the house in the 1930's, it was essentially 
intact but in very poor condition. Following a study by Donald Corley, the house was 
restored to its original appearance under the supervision of Julian Oberwarth. The 
Women's Auxiliary of the Kentucky Medical Association furnished the house with period 
pieces and was able to return to it many of McDowell's papers and personal items 
including instruments and medicine chests. No work was done on the apothecary shop 
until 1955 when it was acquired by the Kentucky Pharmaceutical Association. It was 
then in such a poor state of repair that it was dismantled and rebuilt; original 
materials were reused wherever possible. The shop is now furnished with an outstanding 
collection of l8th and early 19th century apothecary equipment and products. Both the 
house and the shop are now in excellent condition.
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STATEMENT OF SIGNIFICANCE

This 2-story frame house with brick ell and attached "brick apothecary shop and office 
is a landmark in the progress of American medicine. Here in 1809, well "before the 
advent of practical methods of anesthesia, Dr. Ephraim McDo-well performed the first 
successful ovariotomy. The complete recovery of his patient, Mrs. Jane Todd Crawford, 
did much to dispell the misconception among both physicians and laymen that exposing 
the inner wall of the abdomen invariably produced fatal infection, and eventually led 
to the development of a new area of surgical practice.

The shop in which McDowell began his practice in 1795, at the northern end of the 
house, was originally a free-standing building. The older section of the house, the 
rear ell, was constructed c. 1786, the main block c. 1800. McDowell purchased the 
house about the time of his marriage in 1802, remodeled it somewhat, and added a second 
brick office at the southern end. The famous operation was performed in the bedroom 
on the second floor of the ell.

The Kentucky Medical Association purchased and restored the McDowell House and southern 
office during the 1930*3. The northern shop was essentially reconstructed by the 
Kentucky Pharmaceutical Association beginning in 1955 and donated to the Medical 
Association in 1959- The Women's Auxiliary of the Medical Association has furnished 
the house with period pieces and returned to it many of McDowell ! s paper and personal 
items, including instruments and medicine cabinets. The shop has been furnished with 
an outstanding collection of l8th and early 19th century apothecary equipment and 
products. The entire complex is open to the public on weekdays from 10 to 12 a.m. and 
1 to k p.m. and on Sundays from 2 to h p.m.

Historical Background

Ephraim McDowell, of Scotch-Irish ancestry, was born in Augusta County, Virginia, 
November 11, 1771. His father, Samuel McDowell, one of the judges of the first Kentucky 
court in 1783 and president of the convention that framed the first constitution of 
Kentucky, took his family to Danville when Ephraim was 12 years old. Ephraim studied 
anatomy and surgery with Dr. Alex Humphreys of Staunton, Virginia, and in 1793-9^- attended 
the University of Edinburgh, where he was for a time the private pupil of Dr. John Bell. 
He left the university without his degree, and returned to Danville (1795)» where 
he began the practice of medicine in partnership with Dr. Adam Rankin. In an area 
where few doctors could boast of having attended the best schools in this country, to 
say nothing of studying abroad, McDowell's training and skill placed him in the front
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rank of his profession. His reputation spread rapidly and he was soon acknowledged 
to be the best surgeon west of Philadelphia.

In December, 1809, McDowell was called to treat Mrs. Jane Todd Crawford of Greensberg, 
Kentucky. Though two local doctors indicated that Mrs. Crawford was pregnant, McDowell 
quickly realized that she was suffering from an ovarian tumor. While the possibility 
of excising tumors had been suggested, no surgeon had been willing to attempt the 
operation, since it was universally held that exposing the inner wall of the abdomen 
invariably produced fatal infection. McDowell discussed these facts with his patient 
but also made it clear that her only hope of survival lay in removal of the tumor. 
He agreed that if she were prepared to face the risk of death, he would perform the 
required operation. Mrs. Crawford set out immediately for Danville, covering the 
60-mile distance in several days on horseback.

McDowell operated on Christmas Day, l809» with the assistance of his nephew, Dr. James 
McDowell. The patient was placed on a long wooden table covered with a blanket. She 
was fully dressed and perfectly conscious of every movement of the surgeon and his 
assistants. To restrain her involuntary muscles, and permit the surgeon to work, men 
held down her arms and legs with force. During the operation Mrs. Crawford repeated 
the Psalms. Later Doctor McDowell reported, "In five days I visited her, and much to 
my astonishment found her engaged in making her bed. I gave her particular caution 
for the future and she returned home as she came, in good health, which she continues 
to enjoy." Mrs. Crawford was ^7 at the time of the operation and died at the age 
of 78.

McDowell's operation was one of the most important in the history of surgery. His 
cure for the usually fatal ovarian tumor was only one part of his discovery. Even 
more significant was his demonstration that the abdominal cavity could be opened 
safely. However, recognition of his achievement was slow in coming and McDowell him­ 
self did little to publicize his work. After seven years, he was pursuaded to publish 
in the Eclect/Lc Repertory and Analytical Review, Volume VII, an account of this 
operation ana of several others of similar nature that he had performed since. The 
announcement met with indifference, incredulity, and even ridicule. A subsequent 
article in the same journal, written after two additional operations, hardly improved 
the situation. Finally, a report addressed to his former teacher, John Bell, was 
published by John Lizars in the Edinburgh Medical and Surgical Journal of October, lQ2.h 
seven years after it was first written. In 1827, three years before his death, the 
University of Maryland conferred on McDowell the honorary degree of doctor of medicine. 
Today McDowell is considered to be "the father of abdominal surgery."
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